THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 08 2014

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Circuit Court

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001518

Harold P. Threlkeld d/b/a Harold P.
Threlkeld, Attorney at Law.....Plaintiff,

v.

Lyman Warehouse, LLC, Lyman Pacific, LLC,
Mills Demolition, LLC, Susan C. Stanley,
Peter M. Stanley and Donald J. McWhirter..... Defendants,

Of whom Lyman Warehouse, LLC is theAppellant,

And

Of whom Donald J. McWhirter is the Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Calhoun Pruitt, Jr.
PRUITT & PRUITT
101 North Murray Avenue
Anderson, South Carolina 29625
(864) 224-3121

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- A. Did the lower court in holding that a release explicitly limited in terms to the parties to that contract nevertheless releases all claims against all other entities and individuals?
- B. Did the lower court err in holding that the Seller lost its entitlement to the escrowed funds via a failure to prove his damages, in any or all of the following:
- Did the lower court err
- (1) in holding that a third party who is not a beneficiary of a contract has standing to challenge the contract's terms;
 - (2) in reading a contractual provision regarding liquidated damages in a manner contrary to law;
 - (3) in holding the contract has a meaning exactly opposite to the understanding of each party at the time the contract was signed;
 - (4) in holding that a release releases claims that had already been released; and/or
 - (5) in holding that the evidence showed that the Seller had not suffered any damages?

OVERVIEW

Respondent William McWhirter, an experienced businessperson and company-owner, who holds a master's degree in business, provided a \$100,000 check to secure a contract on behalf of an LLC he hoped to join. The contract was to purchase and sell real estate. It provided that if the Buyer failed to close by the closing date, all money paid through that date would be damages to the Seller. He had no written agreement with the LLC as to his joining.

Nor did he have a written agreement with the LLC as to what would happen to his money if the contract to purchase real estate failed to close and the advance money was forfeit. He did not ask to be and was not mentioned in the contract. When the contract failed to close, the Seller became entitled to the money paid on the contract.

If he is entitled to recover under *quantum meruit* or the like, it is against the LLC which he had expected to join, and/or against the sole owner of that LLC individually. The dispute among the Buyers as to who was to do what, which Buyer failed to assemble the remainder of the purchase price, has no relevance to the Seller's contractual entitlement to the funds advanced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an interpleader action. The case began with a Complaint filed January 5, 2012, by the escrow agent, Harold P. Threlkeld d/b/a Harold P. Threlkeld, Attorney at Law, against Lyman Warehouse LLC ("Warehouse"), Lyman Pacific, LLC ("Pacific"), Mills Demolition, LLC, Susan C. Stanley, Peter M. Stanley and Donald J. McWhirter, seeking a judicial order regarding to whom to deliver the \$100,000.00 held in escrow pursuant to an April 7, 2011 contract

between Warehouse and Pacific. (R. pp. 13-16). The contract was to purchase and sell real estate located at 14 Pacific Street in Lyman, SC.

Only Warehouse, Pacific, and Mr. McWhirter appeared. Pacific's counsel moved to be relieved on January 2, 2013, as directed by his client. Pacific did not participate in the litigation thereafter.

The matter was heard non-jury by Judge R. Lawton McIntosh on March 6, 2013. A post-trial brief was filed by Warehouse on March 29, 2013. Via Order dated May 7, 2013, Judge McIntosh directed that the escrowed funds be delivered to Mr. McWhirter. Warehouse filed a motion to reconsider dated May 23; McWhirter filed a memorandum in opposition to that motion dated June 11. The motion was denied via Form 4 order dated June 6th. Warehouse received written notice of entry of the order on June 11, and timely filed notice of appeal on July 9.

FACTS

The sole dispute in this case concerns who is entitled the money placed in escrow to secure a contract to sell and purchase

real estate that fell through when the Buyer was unable to close. Is it the Seller, as the Seller (Appellant) maintains? Or is it the person who put up the initial money for the contract, as Respondent McWhirter maintains?

A. The Contract

The contract at issue in this case is a contract to sell and purchase real estate. (R. pp. 271-276). It is entitled, "Agreement to Sell and Purchase Real Estate." (R. p. 271). Executed April 7, 2011, it called for a closing date of May 7 of that year, and stated that "time is of the essence." (R. p. 272).

The contract was to purchase and sell 22.86 acres of a 41.1 acre parcel, and an additional 9.31 acres out of the same parcel. The 22.86 acres contained a building; the 9.31 acres was "The Parking Lot Area." The properties were located at 14 Pacific Street in Lyman, SC. (R. p. 27).

It called for a purchase price of \$1.3 million, with \$100,000.00 to be paid up-front and the remainder at closing. ("CONSIDERATION: \$100,000.00 at the signing of this contract held in trust by

Attorney, Harold Threlkeld (864) 226-1305. \$1,200,000.00 at closing.”) (R. p. 272)

The contract contained not just one but two merger clauses.

Paragraph 12 of the contract provides,

(12) WHOLE AGREEMENT: This Agreement shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and no prior verbal or written agreement shall survive the execution of this Agreement. In the event of an alteration of this Agreement, the alteration shall be in writing and shall be signed by all the parties or their agents in order for the same to be binding upon the parties.

(R. p. 273)

Paragraph 21 provides,

(21) ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This instrument (including any exhibits attached as a part hereof) constitutes the entire and final agreement among the parties and there are no agreements, understandings, warranties, or representations among the parties except as set forth in this Agreement.

(R. p. 274). On this, all agree. See R. p. 255, lines 4-7 (“THE COURT: -- do you agree there's a merger clause, actually two merger clauses, in exhibit 1 . . .? MR. PRACHT [Attorney for Respondent McWhirter]: Yes, Your Honor.”)

B. Parties to the Contract

The parties to the Contract are Lyman Warehouse, LLC (Seller) and Lyman Pacific, LLC (Buyer).

Despite the similarity in part of the names, there is no connection between Respondent Lyman Pacific, LLC and Appellant Lyman Warehouse, LLC, other than the attempt to buy and sell the property. “Lyman” is the name of a town, and is the name of the mill on the subject property. (R. p. 137, lines 1-24).

These entities are described in more depth below, under the heading, “Parties to the Litigation.”

C. Parties to the Litigation¹

1. Respondent William McWhirter

Respondent William McWhirter has a master’s degree in business. (R. p. 136, line 15) (Testimony of Mr. McWhirter). He makes his living as “a building contractor, residential and commercial. I do excavation, septic systems, and I also demolish buildings.” (R. p. 136, lines 18-22) (Testimony of Mr. McWhirter). He owns two companies, McWhirter Construction, Inc., and McWhirter and Crew.

¹ This section discusses only those parties who appeared in the litigation.

(R. p. 140, lines 21-22). In his telling, he made a \$100,000 contribution in the name of an LLC he hoped to join. No operating agreement for the LLC was ever signed. (R. p. 141, lines 21-23).

He testified that he traveled to South Carolina to sign a contract for the purchase of real estate, and “brought it [the money] to South Carolina with me in the form of a check.” (R. p. 143, lines 15-17) (Testimony of Mr. McWhirter).

He and his colleagues arranged a meeting with the Appellant Seller to provide the Seller with the money to “seal the deal.” “Q. And when you arrived at that meeting, what was your understanding of the purpose of that meeting? A. The purpose was to present Mr. Bennett [representing the Seller, Warehouse LLC] with a check to seal the deal.” (R. p. 142, line 23-page 143, line 1) (Testimony of Mr. McWhirter). “Q. When you gave your -- why did you give a hundred thousand dollars into this deal? A. I wanted to seal the deal with Mr. Bennett so that we could purchase the property and make a profit.” (R. p. 143, lines 20-23).

Later on the same day the contract was signed, the then-sole member of the LLC presented the proposed operating agreement to Mr. McWhirter. The agreement was not to his liking.

A. . . . We engaged Kelly Lowery to review the operating agreement for Lymon² Pacific which Mr. Stanley had drawn up and proposed that he wanted us to sign it that day.

Q. When you say that day, what day?

A. April 7th.

Q. Before or after the meeting [at which the Contract to Purchase Real Estate was signed]?

A. After the meeting

(R. p. 146, lines 18-24). See also R. p. 147, lines 2-4 (“I didn't feel comfortable signing it” (the operating agreement) largely because it provided the then-sole member “unilateral power to make decisions.”)

He raised his reservations about the proposed agreement to Mr. Stanley, the sole member of the Buyer LLC, but did not do so “in front of Mr. Bennett,” the owner of the Seller LLC. (“When we reviewed the operation document that Mr. Stanley presented us, it wasn't what we discussed. And we raised those reservations to him shortly after I had given Mr. Bennett a hundred thousand. We didn't do that in front of Mr. Bennett.”) (R. p. 161, lines 11-15).

He and his co-buyers considered “flipping” the property. (R. p. 166, lines 1-6) (testimony of Mr. McWhirter).

² Due to the frequency with which the transcript spells “Lyman” as “Lymon,” the convention of writing “[sic]” after the misspelled word will not be followed here.

He expected a windfall. “[M]y estimated profit was three point three million dollars.” (R. p. 154, lines 3-4).

Mr. McWhirter had been attempting to line up investors in the project even before the contract was signed. “[S]o as early as March 23rd, you were trying to secure investors in this project; is that right? A. Yes.” (R. p. 158, line 23-p. 159, line 1). The Buyers never came up with the remaining money to close the transaction. (R. p. 159, lines 2-6). The sole owner of the Buyer LLC, Mr. Stanley, did find a secure investor, but Mr. McWhirter was unhappy with the terms the investor proposed.³ (Mr. McWhirter blames Mr. Stanley for failing to come up with a satisfactory investor; Mr. Stanley blames Mr. McWhirter).

³ Mr. McWhirter testified,

A. By way of explanation, Mr. Stanley told Mr. Edwards and myself that he had a secure investor willing to put up the money. The problem at this point in time was that the -- we felt that it was exorbitant. He wanted sixteen percent on the money and sixty-five percent of our profit.

Q. So you weren't satisfied with the investor that Mr. Stanley presented?

A. Correct.

(R. p. 159, lines 6-14).

He does not think he should have done all his due diligence and lined up investors before paying \$100,000 on the contract. "Q. Isn't it true that you should have done all your due diligence and lined up your investors before you ever signed the April 7th contract? A. Well, I don't know that that's true." (R. p. 160, lines 2-5).⁴

He admits that the contract never mentions him, but believed that was okay, as the contract was "marked up" and he expected it would be "retyped."

Q. Okay. Well, the contract doesn't mention Mr. McWhirter anywhere, does it?

A. No. But as I stated in earlier testimony, it was my understanding that the -- this April 7 contract, as it was marked up -- it was all admitted that it wasn't very professional. I was under the assumption that it was going to be retyped.

R. p. 160, lines 19-25.⁵

⁴ His testimony continued, R. p. 160, lines 6-13,

Q. Well, now, you've got a master's degree in business, don't you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And let me see if I have this right. You've got a master's degree in business, and you put up a hundred thousand dollars to seal the April 7th contract?

A. Yes.

⁵ But he does think, "in hindsight," that it would have been prudent to have had a signed operating agreement with the LLC he hoped to join before putting up \$100,000.00 on its behalf. (R. p. 160, lines 3-6).

Nor is there any claim that he was unaware of the terms. He realized at the time the contract was signed that the contract provided only 30 days to close. "And you realized at that time, no matter what capacity you were there in, that you only had thirty days to close? A. That's correct." (R. p. 168, lines 22-25).

He admits that he expected Mr. Stanley, the owner of the Buyer LLC, to reimburse him for the hundred thousand dollars.

Q. Did Mr. Stanley and/or Mr. Edwards promise to pay you back their share of the money that you put up in behalf of Lyman Pacific?

A. Mr. Stanley wrote two letters stating that he would pay me -- and one phone call -- stating that he would reimburse me -- reimburse me the hundred thousand dollars.

Q. But of course, he hasn't done that?

(R. p. 171, lines 14-21).

2. Respondent Lyman Pacific, LLC (Buyer)

Respondent Lyman Pacific, LLC ("Pacific") is a single-member LLC owned and managed by Peter Stanley. (R. p. 329, lines 9-11).

There are no other members, nor has there ever been any other members. (R. p. 329, lines 12-17).⁶ (Mr. Stanley's deposition, Court's

⁶ Mr. Stanley is and has always been the sole member, sole owner, and sole manager of that LLC.

Exhibit 1, was designated by both parties and handed up to the bench. (R. p. 90, lines 20-24)). See also R. p. 266, line 22-p. 267, line 6 (Appellant's Counsel Mr. Pruitt referencing Mr. Stanley's deposition) (similar).

Respondent Pacific did not show up for the March 6, 2013 trial. It had previously requested its attorney withdraw as counsel. He successfully moved to withdraw on January 2, 2013. Mot. Withdraw and Ex. A thereto (Not in Record on Appeal).

-
- Q. FIRST OF ALL, TELL ME WHO IS LYMAN PACIFIC?
A. THAT'S A CORPORATION IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.
Q. IS IT A CORPORATION OR A LLC?
A. IT'S AN LLC.
Q. ALL RIGHT. AND WHO ARE THE -- WHO IS THE PRESENT OWNER OF THAT LLC?
A. I AM. I'M THE MANAGER.
Q. ARE THERE ANY OTHER MEMBERS OF THAT?
A. NO.
Q. SO ARE YOU THE SOLE MANAGER AND SOLE MEMBER?
A. CORRECT.
Q. HAVE YOU ALWAYS BEEN THAT?
A. YES.

(R. p. 329, lines 4-17), Deposition of Stanley (Court's Ex. 1).

3. Appellant Lyman Warehouse, LLC (Seller)

Appellant Lyman Warehouse, LLC, is represented in the appeal, as it was in the lower court and in the signing of the contract at issue in these proceedings, by principal member Richard Bennett. (R. p. 281), Agreement for rescission (Defs.' Ex.), p. 2.

It was Mr. Bennett's understanding, at the time the contract was signed, that Mr. McWhirter was a member of the Lyman Pacific LLC. (R. p. 186, lines 21-23). He thought that Pacific was trying to flip the property. (R. p. 187, line 9). (Mr. McWhirter admitted that the Buyers had discussed flipping the property. (R. p. 166, lines 1-6).

B. Underlying Facts

The contract at issue in this case called for a closing date of May 7, 2011. Pacific was unable to close. As the Court put it, "Lyman Pacific was not able to close by the transaction date." (R p. 260, lines 19-20). On that date, Pacific sent a letter to Warehouse releasing its claim to the \$100,000.00.

Approximately three weeks later, on May 27, 2011, Pacific and Warehouse signed a mutual release, whereby they released each other from all claims. (R. pp. 280-287).

In the interim, Mr. McWhirter had sent to the escrow agent a letter claiming to be entitled to funds, and directing the agent not to disburse the funds to Warehouse.

Warehouse ultimately closed a contract with a third party on less favorable terms. E.g., (R. p. 237, lines 14-25; p. 238, lines 5-21; p. 239, line 21-page 240, line 5; p. 240, lines 15-19). Although this contract involved a sales price \$175,000.00 greater than did the contract with Pacific, this contract sold only the building located on the property, not the land itself. *Id.*; *see also* R. p. 305 (Defs.' Ex (Hook contract), p. 1). Although one might generally expect land to have a positive net value, the land here was contaminated with PCBs and the like. Because the landowner is responsible under environmental laws for the clean-up, the property had a negative net value. Mr. Bennett, the owner of Warehouse, testified that he would have been much better off had the Pacific contract closed. Indeed, he had preferred all along that the Pacific contract close. He hoped it

would close until the closing date, and thereafter consistently wished it had closed.⁷

Additional facts relevant to particular arguments are provided in the discussions therein.

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING WAREHOUSE'S CLAIM TO THE ESCROWED FUNDS IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENT MCWHIRTER, BECAUSE ANY VALID CLAIM MR. MCWHIRTER HAS IS AGAINST PACIFIC AND/OR MR. STANLEY; BECAUSE HIS THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARY CLAIM FAILS FOR LACK OF STANDING AND ON THE MERITS; BECAUSE THE CONTRACT CALLS FOR THE ESCROWED FUNDS TO BE DELIVERED TO SELLER (WAREHOUSE) IF THE BUYER FAILS TO CLOSE, AND THE BUYER DID FAIL TO CLOSE; AND BECAUSE THE BUYER RELEASED ITS CLAIM TO THE ESCROWED FUNDS.

I. Preliminary Matter: McWhirter Lacks Standing to Pursue a Claim as a Third-Party Beneficiary. His Lack of Standing Is Fatal to that Claim.

The lower court properly ruled that Mr. McWhirter is not a third-party beneficiary of the contract. (R. pp. 6-7). However, the lower court failed to hold that, as Mr. McWhirter was neither a third-party

⁷ There were two later contracts to sell and purchase the building that never closed. Neither closed on the land. One did not close at all, and the other specifically excluded the land. These are discussed within the Argument section that relates to these contracts (Section II).

beneficiary of, nor a signatory to, nor even mentioned in the contract, that McWhirter lacked standing to challenge the contract's terms.

Scope of Review

The question is a question of law. Review is therefore *de novo*. *l'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000).

Argument

The lower court properly found that the burden of proof is on the one claiming standing; and that if McWhirter lacked standing, the case is over. The lower court erred in continuing its analysis after those findings.

The burden is on the party claiming standing. A failure of proof is fatal to any claim. The parties agree, as the lower court properly stated, that the burden is on the party claiming standing. "THE COURT: So hold on. So the burden of proof of standing of McWhirter is on McWhirter. I agree. And I'm not going to hear anything else on that because I don't need to. Okay?" (R. p. 84, lines 20-23). *See also* R. p. 85, lines 11-18 (counsel for McWhirter conceding that this is the law); R. p. 79, lines 18-19 (argument of counsel for Warehouse) (similar). *See also Powell v. Bank of Am.*,

379 S.C. 437, 444, 665 S.E.2d 237, 241 (Ct. App. 2008) (burden is on the party seeking to establish standing).

The court properly found, and the parties again agree, that if McWhirter's third-party beneficiary claim fails, either due to a lack of standing or on the merits, his contractual claims against Warehouse fail.

MR. PRUITT: And if he has no standing, then –

THE COURT: The case is over.

MR. PRUITT: --- that part of the case is over.

THE COURT: Do you agree with that?

MR. PROTOPAPAS: Your Honor, yes.

(R. p. 84, line 24-p. 85, line 4).

THE COURT: --- if Mr. McWhirter has no standing, is the case over?

MR. PROTOPAPAS: Yes, sir. And the only – the only thing that we could possibly still be here on is a declaratory judgment statute on an interpleader rule. The Court can assess the rights of all the parties either by saying you don't have a right by standing. That's how I'd ask the Court to rule.

(R. p. 85, lines 11-13).

The lower court properly found that as Mr. McWhirter was not a party to the contract, and as the contract did not mention Mr. McWhirter, and as the contract contained a merger clause, any claim by Mr. McWhirter based directly on the contract fails.

THE COURT: All right. Let me just say this. To the extent Mr. McWhirter has no standing to bring a breach of contract action, I do not find that this -- I find this is not a third-party contract either. *It is not anywhere close to one as far as I can see.*

(R. p. 268, lines 6-10) (emphasis added).⁸

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