THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

Circuit Court Civil Action No: 2012-CP-04-00041  
Appellate Case No: 2013-001518

---

Harold P. Threlkeld d/b/a Harold P. Threlkeld, Attorney at Law .....Plaintiff,

v.

Lyman Warehouse, LLC, Lyman Pacific, LLC, Mills Demolition,  
LLC, Susan C. Stanley, Peter M. Stanley and Donald J. McWhirter.....Defendants

Of Whom Lyman Warehouse, LLC is the .....Appellant,

Of Whom Donald J. McWhirter is the..... Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

J. Christopher Pracht  
THOMASON & PRACHT  
P.O. Box 4025  
Anderson, South Carolina 29622

## ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Is Appellant entitled to Respondent Don McWhirter's One Hundred Thousand (\$100,000.00) Dollars even though Appellant released all claims to it?
2. Did the Circuit Court err in holding that Appellant failed to prove its damages?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court's judgment after a bench trial on March 6, 2013. On January 4, 2012, Thelkeld brought this interpleader action to determine the parties' respective rights to \$100,000.00.<sup>1</sup> Lyman Warehouse, LLC answered the complaint asserting it was entitled to the monies. **ROA 17**. Donald McWhirter ("McWhirter") through his Amended Answer and Cross Claim asserted he was entitled to the monies. **ROA 20**. Lyman Pacific, Susan Stanley, Peter Stanley, and Mills Demolition asserted they had an interest in the monies. **ROA 27, 29**. The matter proceeded to a bench trial and the Trial Court ordered that McWhirter's money be returned to McWhirter.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This controversy involves the proposed purchase of 22 +/- acres of land in Lyman, South Carolina ("the Property"). **ROA 271 DLW Exhibit 1**. Initially, Peter Stanley (and his company Lyman Pacific LLC), Don McWhirter, and Elliott Edwards sought to purchase the Property from Lyman Warehouse for demolition and reclamation of steel. **ROA 141—142 Tr. 74 II 9-17; 75 II 10-17**.

On April 7, 2011, Pacific and Lyman Warehouse entered into a contract. Defendant Lyman Warehouse **ROA 271 DLW Exhibit 1**. The contract was signed at

---

<sup>1</sup> Plaintiff Threlkeld is an attorney who represented Lyman Warehouse and its manager Richard Bennett for a long time. **ROA 71. Tr. 4 II 8-15**.

a meeting at Stax's Restaurant in Greenville, SC. See **ROA 142 Tr. 75 II 19-22**. Present at the meeting were Peter Stanley, Richard Bennett, Elliott Edwards and Don McWhirter. **ROA 142 Tr. 75 II 19-22**.

The closing date on the contract was May 7, 2011. The contract set forth a purchase price of \$1.3 million with \$100,000.00 placed in trust. McWhirter individually wrote a check for \$100,000.00 to satisfy the earnest money provision of the contract.

**ROA 277 DLW Exhibit 2**. Paragraph 15 of the contract states in pertinent part:

REMEDIES FOR BREACH: In the event of default or breach of this Agreement on behalf of Purchaser, Seller's remedy against Purchaser shall be limited to receipt of all monies paid by Purchaser. In other words, if Purchaser does not pay any or all of subsequent payments mentioned in paragraph four (4) then seller's sole remedy for breach against Purchaser shall be limited to all monies paid by the Purchaser thru the date of default.

On May 3, 2011, Stanley, on behalf of Pacific, requested that Bennett and Warehouse move the closing seven days from May 7, 2011 to May 14, 2011. Bennett refused.

**ROA 279 DLW 4**.

On May 4, 2011, unbeknownst to McWhirter, Stanley and Bennett entered into a second contract for the sale of the Property and set the closing for May 14, 2011. The contract was between Mills Demolition, LLC (another Stanley company) and Lyman Warehouse. The sales price is the same as the Lyman Pacific contract and a deposit of earnest money in the amount of \$50,000.00 was placed into the account of Harold Threlkeld. **ROA 292 DLW 9.**<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> On the closing day of May 7, 2011, Stanley sent a self serving letter to Appellant Lyman Warehouse that McWhirter's escrowed money should be turned over to Lyman Warehouse. **ROA 288 DLW 6**.

The contract did not close on May 7, 2011. A dispute arose as to who was entitled to the One Hundred Thousand (\$100,000.00) Dollars. See **ROA 289—291 DLW 7 and 8**. Threlkeld exchanged correspondence with representatives of Lyman Pacific and McWhirter outlining the dispute. See **ROA 289—291 DLW 7 and 8**. Threlkeld also had conversations with individuals about claims being made to the \$100,000.00. See **ROA 93—94, TR. 26 II 3-9; TR. 27 13-19**.

On May 27, 2011, an Agreement for Rescission of Contract and Full and Final Release (“Release”) was reached between Lyman Warehouse, Mills Demolition, Lyman Pacific, Bennett, and the Stanleys. See **ROA 280 DLW Exhibit 5**. The Release was drafted by the counsel for Lyman Warehouse on behalf of his client with the knowledge that McWhirter had a claim to the money in escrow. See **ROA 289 DLW Exhibit 7; ROA 105—106 Tr. 38-39 II 22-7**. The Release states in pertinent part that Lyman Warehouse:

[F]orever discharge Lyman Pacific, Mills, Peter and Susan from all of the Claims, both past and present, including but limited to all claims, demands, actions, and causes of action including without restricting the foregoing generality, any and all claims for damages, liquidated damages, exemplary damages, punitive damages, incidental, special, indirect or consequential damages, damages and all losses of money and economic opportunity and for mental anguish or emotional distress, damages for loss of reputation damages for fraud, civil conspiracy, interference with contractual relations . . .

It being the specific intent of the releasing Parties to fully release the Parties herein released of and from any Claims or right of the releasing Party to claim or to make any of the Claims against the Parties herein released for any losses or damages the releasing Party may have sustained or may hereafter sustain, known or unknown, **arising out of the Circumstances or arising out of any other transaction** or relationship between or among the releasing Party and the Parties herein released and all incidents and consequences thereof.

See ROA 280 DLW Exhibit 5 at p. 5-6 **emphasis** added. Lyman Warehouse received \$27,500.00 in exchange for the release.

On June 3, 2011, Lyman Warehouse sold the rights to demolish the property for \$1,475,000.00 to Hook Construction. See ROA 305 DM Exhibit 12.

The main question before this Court is who is entitled to the \$100,000.00 sitting in Attorney Threlkeld's trust account. The evidence at trial was clear, Lyman Warehouse released its rights to Don McWhirter's \$100,000.00. Furthermore, the evidence at trial was clear, Lyman Warehouse did not suffer any damages by selling the Property for \$1,475,000.00; which is greater than the Lyman Warehouse and Lyman Pacific contract of \$1,300,000.00.

**ARGUMENT: APPELLANT DOES NOT HAVE A LEGAL OR  
EQUITABLE INTEREST IN RESPONDENT MCWHIRTER'S MONEY**

The Trial Court got it right; (a) Appellant has no right to Respondent's monies because Appellant released its claims to Respondent's monies; (b) Assuming *arguendo* that Appellant did not release its claim to the \$100,000, Appellant failed to provide any competent evidence that it incurred any damages that would justify receipt of \$100,000; (c) Appellant would be unjustly enriched if it received the \$100,000; and (d) Respondent has standing to claim his \$100,000.

**A. Appellant released its rights to the \$100,000.00**

On April 7, 2011, Respondent tendered \$100,000.00 to be placed into the escrow account of Mr. Threlkeld. By law, the \$100,000 in Mr. Threlkeld's escrow account does not belong to Mr. Threlkeld. See Rule 1.15, RPC, SCACR Rule 407 and Moore v.

Weinberg, 373 S.C. 209, 225, 644 S.E.2d 740, 748 (Ct. App. 2007). See **ROA 114 Tr. 47 II 3-10**. At no time did the money leave Mr. Threlkeld's escrow account.<sup>3</sup>

Appellant has only one legal ground to claim the \$100,000: Appellant's contractual rights under the April 7, 2011 agreement. See **ROA 114 TR. 47 II. 11-14**. The April 7, 2011 agreement called for a May 7, 2011 closing date and no closing occurred.

On May 27, 2011, Lyman Warehouse, Lyman Pacific, Mills Demolition, Richard Bennett, Peter Stanley, and Susan Stanley (the Parties) entered into full and final Release. See **ROA 280 DLW Exhibit 5**. The release states in pertinent part:

[F]orever discharge Lyman Pacific, Mills, Peter and Susan from all of the Claims, both past and present, including but limited to all claims, demands, actions, and causes of action including without restricting the foregoing generality, any and all claims for damages, **liquidated damages**, exemplary damages, punitive damages, incidental, special, indirect or consequential damages, damages and all losses of money and economic opportunity and for mental anguish or emotional distress, damages for loss of reputation damages for fraud, civil conspiracy, interference with contractual relations . . .

It being the specific intent of the releasing Parties to fully release the Parties herein released of and from any Claims or right of the releasing Party to claim or to make any of the Claims against the Parties herein released for any losses or damages the releasing Party may have sustained or may hereafter sustain, known or unknown, **arising out of the Circumstances or arising out of any other transaction** or relationship between or among the releasing Party and the Parties herein released and all incidents and consequences thereof.

See **ROA 280 DLW Exhibit 5** at p. 5-6 **emphasis** added. In addition to addressing the May 4, 2011 contract, the release affects any claim for damages arising out of any other

---

<sup>3</sup> A trial judge's findings of fact for issues of law tried without a jury are not disturbed unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports a judge's findings. Chapman v. Allstate Ins. Co. 263 S.C. 656, 211 S.E.2d 876 (1975).

transaction or relationship between or among the parties. This language is inclusive of the April 7, 2011 contract.

In South Carolina, when the terms of a Release are clear and unambiguous, they are enforced by their terms. Bowers v. Dept. of Transp., 360 S.C. 149, 156, 600 S.E.2d 543, 546 (Ct. App. 2004) (“In construing [a] release, the court must seek to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties.”). Gardner v. City of Columbia Police Dep’t, 216 S.C. 219, 223, 57 S.E.2d 308, 309 (1950); The Wilson Group, Inc. v. Quorum Health Resources, Inc., 880 F.Supp. 416, 425 (D.S.C.1995). S. Glass & Plastics Co. v. Duke, 367 S.C. 421, 428, 626 S.E.2d 19, 22-23 (Ct. App. 2005) (A release is a contract, and the scope of a release is gathered by its terms). Here, the release itself reveals the parties' intent: “It being the specific intent of the releasing Parties ...”

Lyman Warehouse released all claims to the earnest money in exchange for \$27,500. **See ROA 280 DLW Exhibit 5** pp. 4-6. Furthermore, to the extent that Lyman Warehouse sought McWhirter’s \$100,000, Lyman Warehouse failed to include any reference to the \$100,000 in the release. Lyman Warehouse, Lyman Pacific, Mills Demolition, Peter and Susan Stanley all released their claims to McWhirter’s \$100,000. **ROA 212—213 Tr. 145 II2 – p 146 II1; ROA 280 DLW Exhibit 5**. The only party that did not release its claims to the \$100,000 is Don McWhirter **ROA 214 Tr. 147 II 6-10**.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> Appellant contends that Appellant did not release McWhirter from the \$100,000. See Appellant Brief at pages 26-27. Appellant misapprehends the Trial Court’s Order. The Trial Court held that when Lyman Warehouse released Lyman Pacific for breach of the April 7, 2011 contract, Lyman Warehouse released any rights to the disputed \$100,000.

## **B. Lyman Warehouse failed to prove damages**

Even if the Release did not end this matter, McWhirter would still be entitled to the interpleaded funds as Lyman Warehouse has failed to prove any damages from the default of the April 7, 2011 contract. Generally, the construction of a contract is a question of law for the court. Soil Remediation Co. v. Nu-Way Env'tl., Inc., 325 S.C. 231, 234, 482 S.E.2d 554, 555 (1997). If the language employed by the agreement is plain and unambiguous, the contract should be enforced by its terms. First-Citizens Bank Trust Co. v. Conway Nat'l Bank, 282 S.C. 303, 305, 317 S.E.2d 776, 777 (Ct.App.1984).

The April 7, 2011 contract provides the following remedy for Lyman Warehouse if Pacific does not close:

**Remedies For Breach:** In the event of default or breach of this Agreement on behalf of Purchaser, Seller's remedy against Purchaser shall be limited to receipt of all monies paid by Purchaser. In other words, if Purchaser does not pay any or all of subsequent payments mentioned in paragraph four (4) then Seller's sole remedy for breach against Purchaser shall be limited to all monies paid by the Purchaser thru the date of default.

By its plain terms, the April 7, 2011 contract requires Lyman Warehouse to prove its damages from the Seller's default for up to the amount of monies paid prior to the default. The monies paid prior to default are the \$100,000.

At trial, Lyman Warehouse failed to present competent evidence of any damages from Lyman Pacific's default. Lyman Warehouse did not enter any checks or costs that it incurred as a result of its contract with Lyman Pacific. Rather, the only evidence presented was that Lyman Warehouse entered into two other contracts that financially benefitted Lyman Warehouse, a May 4, 2011 contract with Mills Demolition and a June 6, 2011 contract with Hooks. The May 4, 2011 Mills contract has the identical damages

clause as the Lyman Pacific contract. Compare **ROA 274 DLW Exhibit 1 paragraph (15)** to **ROA 295 DLW Exhibit 9 paragraph (14)**. The Mills contract called for \$50,000 in earnest money compared to the \$100,000 in earnest money in the Lyman Pacific contract. Lyman Warehouse settled its claims against Mills and Lyman Pacific for \$27,500. **ROA 283 DLW Exhibit 5 at paragraph 5.2.**

The June 6, 2011 contract closed for more money than the April 7, 2011 contract. See **ROA 306 DM Exhibit 12 at paragraph 2**. As a result, Lyman Warehouse has failed to prove any damages from the default.

**C. Appellant would be unjustly enriched if it received the \$100,000**

Unjust enrichment (quantum meruit) requires a showing that a benefit was conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff, realization of the benefit by the defendant, and retention by the defendant of the benefit under circumstances that make it unjust for the defendant to retain the benefit. JASDIP Properties SC, LLC v. Estate of Richardson, 395 S.C. 633, 640, 720 S.E.2d 485, 488 (Ct. App. 2011).

As a result of the release and its improved financial position from the May 4, 2011 Mills contract and June 3, 2011 Hook contract, Lyman Warehouse has no legal or equitable claim to the monies. It would be unjustly enriched if were to obtain the \$100,000. As a result, the money should be returned to its rightful owner, Respondent McWhirter.

**D. Appellant's Argument on Standing is without Merit**

Finally, Appellant's argument that Respondent did not have standing based on the contract is incorrect and confuses two different legal theories, contract law and equitable law. The Trial Court was correct when it found that Respondent had standing

to assert a claim to Respondent's money because (1) this is an interpleader action; (2) standing is satisfied by Respondent's claim to the monies held in escrow; and (3) Respondent satisfies the elements of unjust enrichment.

This action began as an interpleader action. The historical and still primary purpose of a SCRPC Rule 22 interpleader is to enable a neutral stakeholder, in this case Mr. Thelkeld, to shield himself from liability for paying over the stake to the wrong party; this is done by forcing all the claimants to litigate their claims in a single action brought by the stakeholder. First Union Nat. Bank of South Carolina v. FCVS Communications 321 S.C. 496, 469 S.E.2d 613 (Ct. App. 1996), rehearing denied, certiorari granted, reversed in part 328 S.C. 290, 494 S.E.2d 429. Mr. Threlkeld believed that Respondent might assert a claim to the monies in his possession. Mr. Threlkeld named Respondent to the suit based on this fear. **ROA 114. Tr. 47 II 19-24.** McWhirter was rightfully brought into the interpleader action.

Once in the action, Respondent had standing to assert his claims to the stake. To have standing, one must have a personal stake in the subject matter of the lawsuit. In other words, one must be a real party in interest. Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. Charleston County Election Comm'n, 336 S.C. 174, 519 S.E.2d 567 (1999). "A real party in interest is one who has a real, material, or substantial interest in the subject matter of the action, as opposed to one who has only a nominal or technical interest in the action. Sea Pines Ass'n for Prot. of Wildlife, Inc. v. S. Carolina Dep't of Natural Res., 345 S.C. 594, 600, 550 S.E.2d 287, 291 (2001). Respondent had a personal stake in the monies involved in the action because it was Respondent's personal check that was

deposited in Mr. Threlkeld's trust account that made up the stake. Hence, Respondent has a substantial interest in the action.

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